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Summary Description: 

Zoe Community Church is now occupying the former First Baptist Church of Newport 
News. The church is located on 29' Street between Washington and West Avenues m the 
commercial downtown area of N e w  News. The original church, built m 1902, was an 
irregularly shaped, two-story, hiP& roof with cross gables, pink and brick structure. It is 
approximately 10,000 square feet. The church has semiciiula~ seating m the auditorium 
(iinctuaty), &h was a popular design after the Protestant ~efo&n. The church has strong 
Romanesque architectural details and only the best materials were used during construction A fin 
gutted the former First Baptist Church of Newport News m 1906, and the only thing left shdhg 
were tbe granite walls The congregation decided to rebuild inrmediately using the same plans. 
The new building was completed m 1907, just a little over a year later. During 1916 and 1917 the 
basement was remodeled to accommodate the growing Sunday school attendawe. In 1930, a 
three-story educational wing was added. It was built with buff&$ and &in1 pink stone 
accents. The educational wing was an ineiTectd attempt at creating an addition that would look 
like a continuation of the existing building. The former First Baptist Church of Newport News is 
a wonderlid example of quality worlnnsnship during the early 20' Century. 

The former First Baptist Church of Newport News is a large, two-story, building m 
downtown Newport News. Ody the best materials were used during the comtrpction The first 
h o r  of the church c o d e d  of an auditorium (sanctuary) witb a bdcony, a large Sunday school 
room, seven classrooms, men's and women's bathrooms, a mdhg room, and a pastor's office. 
The second floor has a large reception room, a kitchen with a pantry, and several more 
classooms. 

The church is a prim example of a Richardsonh Rommesque style building. The 
structure was built on a stone and concrete foundation to accommodate the basement. Most of 
the church was built with rough-faced cut pink granite that was shipped directly from Maine. The 
exterior has an ashlar finish and a belt course located approximately five-foot off the ground. The 
back section of the church was built with smootbfaced red brick with matching mortar. It has a 
broad hip roof with croc1s-gables constructed of date. The windows are tall, thin, and deeply set. 
Palladian style windows are placed m the wall dormers. Thick colonial style wood doors are use 
throughout the church. 
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A tall square tower is off to the left side of the building. The base of the tower is two 
stories high. It has double hung windows with a transom panel and a flat lintel. Above these 
windows are round top windows with a stone segmental arch. The top half of the tower is also 
two stories high and slightly smaller in length and width. It has two sets of tall, rectangular 
windows set on top of each other with a stone lintel m between. D i  above are small square 
windows. Three stone segmental arches adorn the top of the square windows. A six-foot tall 
double belt course with square windows and stone lintels supports the roof. Round b a r t i  with 
finials trim each of the corners of the top half of the tower. The coppa, hipped sprire rises 
approximately thirty feet. It has a decorative h h h g  ridge; hip rolled edges and is topped with a 
finial. Each side of the roof has a small gabled dormer with a round top window, stone segmental 
arch and cornice details. 

Three stone segmental arches with Iarge keystones create the h n t  tkpde. The arches 
are set on heavy piers with decorative plaques. The center arch continues to the ground to form 
the entryway to a portico that k e s  29' Street. A triangular pediment above the center arch is 
embellished with cylindrical stone ornaments capped with engraved knobs. A set of double doon 
at each end of the portico open up into small narthex areas. The narthex areas are two stories 
high. They lead directly mto the back of the auditorium (sanctuary). The auditorium (sanctuary) is 
an elaborately designed two-story room m the shape of a hexagon, which holds 450 people. 
Massive post and beam timbers are placed at each intersection and meet at the pinnacle of the 
sloped ceiling. A balcony, that holds 250, wraps around three of the six sides of the room. The 
walls are made of wood and plaster. Seven stained glass windows with Christian symbols are 
located along the back walls. A large round top stained glass window with a smaller Palladian 
form window is located on the back wall of the balcony. The choir loft is located along one of the 
sides of the auditorium (sanctuary). Behind it there is an arched openiug to accommodate the 
immense pipe organ. The front wall of the room contains the original white marble baptistery 
behind a raised phtfbnn There is a large Sunday school room next to the auditorium (sanctuary). 
A great lifting door that could be raised separated the two room. It has since been replaced with 
a solid wall and the Sunday school room has been renovated into a chapel. The additional rooms 
are used for classrooms and meeting rooms. The second floor classrooms and reception room 
havepaneledwallsandtwehz-inchthickplasterandwoodwalls.Theoriginalwoodtrimisstill 
around the doors and windows. 

The educational wing, which was built m 1930, is an attempt to match the historid 
splendor of the existing building. The rectangular addition is three stories high and has three 
menanhe levels m addition to the basemnt. The gabled roof is made of asphalt shbgks. It was 
constructedusingbuEbrickwithartXciipinkstonequoins. Thewindowsaretallwith 
contrasting stone lintels. Attached to each corner is a round minaret with a conical cap. There is a 
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belt course approximately five feet off the ground that matches the one on the existing buildiag. 
The exterior of the addition has four sets of three rectangular windows centered on the 

front m e .  They are tall and only separated by stone lintels and stone mullions. The highest 
ones are rounded at the top and have silted arched lintels. On each side of the center windows is 
a double hung window with a simple lintel To follow a pattern, the highest windows are rounded 
and have a similar arched lintel. At the top of the gable there is a nibon row of three windows. 
The parapet is approldmately one foot higher than the roof and matches the stone lintels and 
mullions. 

Each floor has a central hallway that runs parallel to 29" Street with a staircase at one end. 
The basement has one large room, nine classrooms, a boiler room, a coal room and a janitor's 
closet. In the back half of the first floor is one of the mezzaniae levels with aiae classrooms and a 
bathroom. It opens up to the room m the basement. The h n t  halfof the first floor has bathrooms 
for men and women and four large o5ces. The back halfof the second floor has a large room 
with a raised platform and several small rooms. The h n t  half of the second &or is designed 
exactly the same as the W with one exception: there are five o&es rather than only four. The 
third floor has mazanines on both sides of the hallway. Both the mezzanine and the open room 
have doors leading to aiae classrooms. 

Statement of Signifigance 

The former First Baptist Church of Newport News, w w  occupied by Zoe Community 
Church, is a well-preserved architectural reflection of its time. It was the only Baptist church m 
town during the end of the nineteenth century. The Fi Baptist Church of Newport News grew 
rapidly m membership h m  it's founding as Baptist Chapel of Newport News in 1883. Under the 
new pastorate of R J. Porter, it was planned to erect a new larger church at its present site. 

The building features designs unique to the Richardsonian Romaaesque (1880-1900) style. 
A few of the id- features would be rod-topped arches over windows, porch supports, 
and entrances. Constructed with masonry walls, usually of rough faces or square stonework, they 
were more expensive to build. For this particular reason, they were usually ladma~ks and used 
for public and commercial use. Constructed with pink granite fiom Maine, it was built with only 
the hest of materials for a house of worship. Under Rev. Wood's pastorate, the congregation 
was to build a structure that wo* compare favorably with any other religious structure m town, 
which was w t  hard, considering then? was only one other. An article m the "Religious Herald" on 
December 24,1903 described the building as a ' h a p 5 c . d  structure", the auditorium as "aobk 
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and spacious" and the fiuniture and carpets of the main buildings as m 'perfect taste". 
Hunt was apt to changes in style m his fifty years of practice, unlike many other architects, 

he transitioned well from the historic style to the modern style. That is why he is known today as 
one of the most prolific architects in the south. 

HISTORICAL BACKGROUND 

On June 14,1883, a Baptist church was organized in the 'Union Chapel". It has headed by 
Rev. Milbourne and consisted of 27 members. Soon after this, they leased a lot from the Melson 
Estate through CoL Thomas Tab of Hampton This lot was located next to the corner of the west 
side of Washington Avenue and mtth of Thirteenth Street. It was known as the Baptist Chapel of 
Newport News. Rev. Milbourne resigned m April 1884 following him was C.A.G. Thomas (1884- 
1885), A B. Rudd (1886-1887), and M. L. Wood (1888-1996). It was uuder his pastorate the 
congregation decided to move to a site on Washington Avenue, near the comer of Twenty-ninth 
Street. 

In 1901, Rev. J. W. Porter arrived as pastor. Due to the growing congregation, which had 
increased to 354 members, he proposed to erect a new building in the middle of the block on 
Twenty-ninth Street. They anticiied that this would be a quieter location. 

In 1902 the church purchased lots thirteen, fourteen, fifteen, sixteen, and seventeen for 
$19,500.00 from T. L. Steam and the excavation began. The general contractor was J. H. 
Brinson who had a bid of $33,333.00. His bid did not include phrmbin& gas and electric, heating, 
or glass. The contract for plumbimg and gas piping was given to Richter and Buttingham for 
$1,179.00.At $400.00, the contract for electrical wiring was given to Citizens Electric Power 
Company. R H. Hunt (1862-1937) of Chattanooga, Termessee was the architect. 

The wmmtone for the new building was laid on November7,1902 by Peninsula Lodge 
#278. There was a huac celebration and there were documents. as well as a historv of N m r t  
News placed inside. The church walls were made of pink &, which came &&Maine k a 
cost of $50,000.00. The total cost for the build& was $70,143.29. which included the land, 
fUmihue, and organ. It had a basemnt, pantry, a& a kitchen, a ladies room and a men's reading 
room. The auditorium had a balcony and a great Wmg door that qmakd it h m  the Sunday 
school room. This allowed the auditorium to enlarge its seating capacity for future growth. Later, 
with a decline in population, it was closed m to fonn a chapeL The new building was dedicated on 
December 2 4 1  903. 

The budding was lighted by electricii'and gas and heated by steam. The pews were of 
white oak with five-inch arms and paneled backs. The organ cost $3,100.00. In front of the 
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Baptistery were the pews and balcony. They formed a u shape, which brought the worshippers 
closer to the pastor and the preaching of the gospel. The line of pastors continued with C.C. Cox 
(1896-1901) and Dr. J. W. Porter (1901-1908). It was during his pastorate that the church fell to 
its first hardship. 

On January 27,1906, at 200 p. m. the church burned completeiy to the ground in four 
hours. The only things left &ding were the stone walls. This left the congregation without a 
place to worship. Five days after this disastrous 6re, the congregation decided to rebuild. 

On Uay 12,1907, in just fifteen months and fifteen days later the church was occupied 
and dedicated at a cost of $42,163.33. Rebuilt using the same plan and many of the same 
materials, the congregations new home was worth $80,627.72. In 1908, Dr. Porter resigned 
leaving 203 additions by baptism and a membership of 625. 

On March 16, 1910. during Rev. Wilson's pastorate, another & started in the pastor's 
study causing minor damages. 

In 1917, under Rev. Clarke the church changed its name fiom Newport News Baptist 
Church to F i i  Baptist Church of Newport News. During this time the barement was remodeled 
to accommodate the growing Sunday schooL 

In 1926 the church proposed a plan for a new educational wing to be built. With the 
advice of architect, Herbert L. Cain, they were instructed to purchase lots eighteen and nineteea 
On October 23,1929 lot eighteen was p u r c W  for $6,250 and lot nineteen for $6,250 as welL 
The church had to borrow an additional $75,000.00 to build the new addition, which caused them 
to mortgage the church The new addition joined the church at a cost of $90.000.00, which 
included the cost of the two lots it was built o n  It was built with buff brick and an artificial 
trimming to match the pink @C walls of the church It was three stories high with a hement., 
While the educational winn was being c o m e d  the present church was being remodeled to - 
accommodate the g r o ~ e n m l l r n e ~  which had risenio 1,393. 

On April 2, 1955,the janitor's room, which was adjacent to the broiler room, caught on 
fire. This caused major damage to the e W c a l  wiring. During this time the membership had 
grown to 2,167. 

Over the years, the church has been remodeled to accommodate the growing 
congregation The Sunday school with the gallery was remodeled with two floors, a chapel on the 
iirst floor and Sunday school assembly room on the second floor. The great lifting door was 
replaced with vinyl at first, followed by a solid wall. The original clmdeAiers were replaced with 
cathedral type lanterns and the organ's gold pipes were replaced with stainless steel ones. The 
bmemcnt was remodeled for extra storage and more classrooms. The wal fUmace was replaced 
with an automatic furnace aml air-condition was iastalkd. The growth continued until the people 
moved to the suburbs and the shopping centers were built, taking people and bu&ss away h m  
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the downtown area 
Dr. William L. Tomlinson arrived m 1976; the church built an additional house to worship 

on Warwick Boulevard. With this transition the membership began to rise once again. 
In 1983, the church celebrated its one hundred-year anuiversary. It brought about much 

joy knowing the church had survived so many hardships. Today it is still spreading the word of 
God in the Newport News community, through Pastor Raymond Johus~n, for years to come. 

Reuben Harrison Hunt (1 862- 1937) 

R.H. Hunt was born m Elbert County, Georgia on Groundhog's Day to Reuben S. Hunt, 
a merchant, planter, and civil war veteran and Mollie (McCary) Hunt. In 1882 he moved to 
Chattanooga, Tennessee where he worked as an apprentice builder at Adam's Bros., which was a 
6rm of architects, contractors, and builders. It was then that he begau his study of architecture at 
night. 

In 1886, at the age of 24, he began his own practice. RH. Hunt Company. His tint 
commission was to design the First Baptist Church of Chattanooga This was followed by the 
United States Post Office of Chattanooga, m which he won national honors for its design. Soon 
thereafter he designed the Hamilton County Courthow, the Provident Bank and the Hamilton 
National Bank just to llam a few. Hunt felt that the Hamilton National Bank was his most 
suaxs611 building because it was completed in under two years, which was very unusual 
for a buildinn of its size. It was also said to be the most i h m o f  of all his w o k  

 no& historical building of his was the ~emorial~uditorium in Chattauooga (1 922- 
1923) built in the Italian Renaissance style. In 1936, it was listed es one of the largest assembly 
hallsinthecountry. 

Mr. Hunt was also recognized for the Pound Building (1906), which had m steel hme. 
It was thought to be the tallest load bearing brick building m the world for some time. 

Hunt desigmd mrury churches for congregations at m cost, because they were his 
specialty. This was proven m a quote made by Hunt. 'TIE character of the building reveals the 
character of the architect." 

As a member of the Anmican Institute of Architects, he opened a second office in Dallas, 
Texas and began to design buildings fiom Virginia to Oklahoma It was then that he desbpd the 
First Baptist Church of Newport News. 

Due to the fact that he was apt to chrmges m style m his fifty years of practice, unlike 
many other architects, he transitioned well fiom the historic style to the modem style. At the time 
of his death m May of 1937, Hunt was known as one of the most prolific architects m the south. 
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View of: Exterior Front & Side 
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View of: Exterior Front 
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View of: Interior pulpit 
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View of: Baptismal Font 
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View of: Interior Arch 
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View of: Interior Light 
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Date 12/99 
View of: Pew Detail (Interior) 
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View of: Detail of Exterior doorknob . 
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